1979

Triangle Oil, Inc. , A Corporation v. North Salt Lake Corporation, Municipal Corporation of the State of Utah; John R. Graves, William D. Jackson, Richard v. Strong, Joe W. Vande Merwe, and Rodney J. Wood, Councilmen : Brief of Plaintiff-Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

The city, by ordinance, restricted to four the number of all beer licenses and refused without other cause to issue a Class A license to plaintiff for sale of beer in original containers for off-premise consumption in its combination grocery store-gasoline station.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The trial court granted defendants' motion to dismiss with prejudice without other pleadings or trial (R. 59).

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks a decree from this court reversing the order of dismissal of the trial court, and adjudging that in absence of cause found to be within the police power of the city, the plaintiff is entitled to be issued a Class A beer license.

MATERIAL FACTS

Plaintiff's complaint alleged in part as follows:

3. Plaintiff operates a business at 195 South Highway 89-91 within the city limits of said municipality consisting generally of the retail sale of gasoline, other petroleum products, groceries and food items under license issued by said municipality. Prior to September 5, 1978, plaintiff duly applied and tendered the fee for a Class A retail license to sell beer on said premises at 195 South Highway 89-91 in original containers for consumption off the premises.

The defendants declined to issue the license for the reasons set forth in a letter dated September 6, 1978, from the Honorable Robert Palmquist, Mayor of North Salt Lake Corporation, which stated:

"D. J. Allred
598 West 2600 South
Bountiful, Utah 84010

Dear Mr. Allred:

Your application for a retail beer license to sell beer at Triangle Oil Inc., 195 South Highway 89, was reviewed by the City Council at their regularly scheduled meeting on September 5, 1978. Due to the size of North Salt Lake and to the fact that there are now seven active beer licenses in the city, the council voted unanimously to disapprove your request. Their action in no way reflects upon you or your business. It merely reflects the council's feelings that there are now sufficient beer outlets within the city.

Sincerely,

Robert Palmquist
Mayor"

4. Ordinance No. 77-8 enacted by defendants on December 20, 1977, which became effective December 20, 1977, is entitled, AN ORDINANCE REPEALING AND REENACTING CHAPTER 9 OF TITLE 4 OF THE CITY CODE OF NORTH SALT LAKE TO PROVIDE FOR THE SALE, REGULATION, LICENSING AND RESTRICTIONS ON THE SALE OF BEER. Section 4-9-2 thereof provides:

"4-9-2. LICENSE TO SELL LIGHT BEER AT RETAIL. It shall be unlawful for any person to engage in the business of the sale of light beer at retail, in bottles, other original containers, or draft, within the corporate limits of the city without first having procured a license therefor from the council as hereinafter provided. A separate license shall be required for each place of sale and the license shall at all times be conspicuously displayed in the place to which it shall refer or for which it

shall be issued. All licenses shall comply with the Liquor Control Act of Utah and the regulations of the liquor control commission and every license shall recite that it is granted subject to revocation as hereinafter provided."

The complaint also alleged that:

The said enabling statute does not provide that the city may restrict the number of licenses issued nor does it mention the sale of beer in "other original containers", but mentions only sale at retail, in bottles or draft.

Accordingly, the city is without right or authority to enact an ordinance which restricts the number of licenses issued and endeavors to control sale of beer in cans or other original containers except bottle or draft.

Section 4-9-3 of the city ordinance provides in part:

"4-9-3. LICENSE PRIVILEGES.

A. Retail licenses issued hereunder shall be of the following kinds and shall carry the following privileges and be numbered numerically commencing from the number one:

1. Class "A" retail license shall entitle the licensee to sell beer on the licensed premises in original containers for consumption off the premises in accordance with the Liquor Control Act of Utah and the ordinances of the city."

Section 4-9-11 relates to restriction of numbers of licenses to be issued and provides:

"J. The total number of businesses licensed to sell beer in the city of North Salt Lake shall not exceed four, provided that this ordinance shall not operate to reduce the number of businesses now licensed to sell beer whether issued by this municipality or by the county if such business is annexed, nor shall it affect reapplications for such licenses."

The restriction does not appear in any enabling statute;

it does not distinguish between licenses for sale of beer for consumption off the premises under Class A license from sale of beer for consumption on the premises under a Class B license or consumption on the premises with the sale of meals under a Class C license.

The restriction of Class A licenses is not within the power or authority of the defendants and has no legal relationship to the police power of the city.

The trial court considered the written memoranda of the parties and ordered that the complaint be "dismissed with prejudice, failure to state a claim".

ARGUMENT

POINT I. CITY HAS NO POWER TO RESTRICT THE NUMBER OF CLASS A BEER LICENSES WITHOUT PROOF OF NECESSITY THEREFOR IN EXERCISE OF POLICE POWER.

Plaintiff operates one of its "Gas 'n Groceries" store at North Salt Lake and applied for a Class A beer license which would have permitted plaintiff to sell beer in original containers for consumption off the premises. Defendant city council refused to issue a license for the sole stated reason that there were presently sufficient beer outlets within the city. The city ordinance fixes the number of businesses licensed to sell beer at four without specifying any division among Classes A, B or C. Class B would allow consumption on the premises in containers or draft, and Class C allows similar consumption on premises only in connection with the sale of meals.

Plaintiff contends that city has no power to restrict the number of Class A beer licenses for the reason that such power has not been invested in the city by statute; that any power to regulate must have an intimate relationship to the public health, welfare or morals based upon evidence and facts; and that the provision allowing a reapplication by the same licensee for one of the restricted licenses is invalid.

Historically, the laws of Utah, 1935, Section 89, vested the Liquor Control Commission with authority to grant licenses to sell light beer at retail for off premises consumption and draft on premises. Section 91 established a limitation on the number of licenses for sale of light beer on draft according to population, but made no restriction on licensing for sale of beer in containers for off premise consumption. The laws of 1937 changed the act to allow licensing by cities under language as follows:

32-4-17. Light beer-Sales to minors. (a) Cities and towns within their corporate limits, and counties outside of incorporated cities and towns shall have power to license, tax, regulate or prohibit the sale of light beer, at retail, in bottles or draft; provided, that no such licenses shall be granted to sell beer in any dance hall, theater or in the proximity of any church or school. The commission granting the license shall have authority to determine in each case what shall constitute proximity.

The words "license", "tax" and "regulate" are the identical words used in 10-8-39 which authorizes cities to license certain businesses. The word "prohibit" is used in 10-8-42 which dates

back to 1898 and this section reads:

10-8-42. Intoxicating liquors-Regulation. They may prohibit, except as provided by law, any person from knowingly having in his possession any intoxicating liquor, and the manufacture, sale, keeping or storing for sale, offering or exposing for sale, importing, carrying, transporting, advertising, distributing, giving away, exchanging, dispensing or serving of intoxicating liquors.

Thus 32-4-17 added nothing by way of power of cities to prohibit sales since this authority to prohibit under 10-8-42 antedates the former. The authority to limit Class A licenses must be found apart from the right to prohibit. Does the word "regulate" give such authority to restrict the number? Appellant contends it would do so only to the extent the city reasonably finds it necessary in exercise of its police power. The sale of beer in original containers for off premise consumption is not a nuisance per se, nor an evil recognized by statute or otherwise as requiring restriction. This is borne out by at least the following facts:

(1) The ordinance itself defines "nuisance" under 5 categories, none of which includes Class A situations.

(2) The Liquor Control Act, 32-1-2, defines police power as it relates to liquor in controlling saloons and unlawful selling:

32-1-2. This act shall be deemed an exercise of the police powers of the state for the protection of the public health, peace and morals; to prevent the recurrence of abuses associated with saloons; to eliminate the evils of unlicensed

and unlawful manufacture, selling and disposing of alcoholic beverages; and all provisions of this act shall be liberally construed for the attainment of these purposes.

(3) It is not unlawful to drink alcohol and even to drive a vehicle if the amount of alcohol in the blood is .05 percent or less, which would be at least two bottles of beer (41-6-44).

(4) Acts characterized as evil or immoral as a matter of religion are not necessarily evil or immoral as a matter of law.

We acknowledge the right of the state to restrict licensing and withhold licensing without the necessity of giving any reason therefor. And, if specifically legislated, the state could authorize the limiting or restricting of licenses by cities. However, in absence of statute the city has no such right. This is set forth in the annotations in 163 ALR 581 from which we quote on page 582 as follows:

Municipalities, too, when they are invested by state legislatures with the power to do so, may limit the number of liquor licenses which may be issued within their jurisdictions. State ex rel. Dixie Inn v. Miami (Fla) (reported herewith) ante, 577; Hall v. Kewanee (1942) 379 Ill 176, 39 NE2d 1009; Alamogordo Improv. Co. v. Prendergast (1940) 45 NM 40, 109 P2d 254; State ex rel. Saperstein v. Bass (1941) 177 Tenn 609, 152 SW2d 236.

But it seems that municipal control may be superseded by a state beverage act which does not limit the number of licenses anywhere in the state, and reserves to municipalities only the right to enact ordinances regulating the hours of business and the location of places of

business, and prescribing sanitary conditions. *City of Miami v. Kichinko* (1945) Fla 22 So2d 627, 630. In this case the court held invalid an ordinance which limited the number of liquor licenses according to population.

Since 32-4-17 utilizes the words license, tax and regulate similarly as contained in the licensing power of cities under 10-8-39, we analyze some cases dealing with the word "regulate" in connection with the latter.

In *Salt Lake City v Revene* (1942) 124 P2d 537, where the city sought to limit the hours which a barber shop could remain open in affirming the lower court in sustaining a demurrer to the complaint, Justice Wolfe wrote:

[2] The municipality being a creature of the state delegated powers, the question arising here is whether this ordinance is within the police power delegated under Section 15-8-39; to "license, tax and regulate".

[3,4] The word "regulate" is difficult to define in other terms because it involves a conception for which it stands more accurately than any synonym. It involves the making of a rule in reference to the subject to be regulated. Webster's International Dictionary, (2nd Edition), defines the word to mean "to bring under the control of law or constituted authority". The rule making power given to cities in reference to barber shops does not mean any rule but such rules reasonably related and designed to protect the health of the public.

In *Ogden City v. Leo*, 54 Utah 556, 182 P.530, 532, 5 A.L.R. 960, this court after defining regulation, said, "the foregoing illustrations are quite sufficient to show that, where the power 'to regulate' a particular calling or business is conferred on a city, it authorized such city to prescribe and enforce all such proper and reasonable rules and regulations as may be deemed necessary and wholesome in conducting the business

in a proper and orderly manner."

[5,6] The question resolves itself to this: Is the fixing of closing hours a reasonable regulation within the scope of the delegated police power, i.e. has it a reasonable relationship to the protection of health of the public?

Apparently the court found as a matter of law that regulating the hours of barbers had no relation to public health. Likewise, it would appear to be equally a matter of law that the limiting of the number of Class A licenses has no relation to public health, since such beer could readily be purchased from other licensees in and about North Salt Lake. No one could prove that the health of residents of North Salt Lake would be effected whether there were 100 such licenses or none at all.

Of course, the action of the city council in limiting licenses may be symbolic of the feelings of the council and many of their constituents that alcohol is evil and its use should be prohibited, however, this philosophy in a democracy should not be visited upon persons whose attitude toward moderate use of beer is that it is moral, lawful and less harmful than consumption of some softer beverages.

POINT II. THIS ATTEMPT TO LIMIT CLASS A BEER LICENSES IS ARBITRARY, UNREASONABLE AND DISCRIMINATORY.

Plaintiff's place of business is on U. S. Highway 91 and is the last business location selling groceries and gasoline at the south end of the city. It is properly zoned for business.

In Smith v. Barrett, 20 P2d 864, Utah (1933) it was

held that to attempt to limit gasoline service stations by requiring consent of adjoining property owners even though the property was within a zone allowing gas stations, was not allowable under the general welfare clause. A filling station is not a nuisance per se even though it may be operated to become a public or private nuisance according to the opinion which quoted the following with approval:

"Under the Constitution, arbitrary power cannot be conferred upon the city council in the exercise of the police power of any other power it possesses. A gasoline filling station, properly constructed and properly operated, is not per se a nuisance. The city council may by reasonable ordinances establish zoning districts or define how gas filling stations may be constructed and how operated. But arbitrary power to allow a gas filling station on one man's property and disallow it to another, without any definite rule by which the city council is to be governed, cannot be conferred, for this would be to give it power to deny equal rights to all the citizens."

[7] Is it any less arbitrary, unreasonable, or discriminatory for a board of city commissioners to confer upon the owners of a specified foot frontage arbitrary power to allow a gas filling station on one man's property and, by refusal of consent, disallow it to another, than for a Legislature to confer a like power upon a city commission without a definite rule by which such action should be governed? We observe none, and, further, find no such power conferred by statute in this state.

The court further stated that such arbitrary power would deny equal rights to all citizens presumably under the Fourteenth Amendment.

POINT III. WITHOUT EVIDENCE SUPPORTING A NEED
TO RESTRICT THIS LICENSE THE ORDER
OF DISMISSAL WAS ERROR.

Justice Crockett, in the case of Ritholz v. City of Salt Lake, 3 U2d 385, Sec. 284 P2d 702, Utah (1955), where the city by ordinance prohibited the advertising of prices for eyeglasses, held that this was not within the powers granted cities nor was it authorized under general authority of 10-8-84 to preserve the safety, health and morals of the city. The court stated that cities are creatures of statute and limited in powers to those delegated by the Legislature, which powers should be strictly construed. We quote in part from this opinion:

"In this particular context the power to regulate business can mean only such regulations as are reasonably and substantially related to the safeguarding of the public health which raises the question whether the advertising proscribed by the ordinance bears such a relation. This involves consideration of the constitutional as well as the ultra vires problem since the city cannot be authorized to do what the legislature itself has not the power to do.

To begin with, we observe that the city offered no evidence at the trial to show any relationship between advertising eyewear and public health. There is urged before us only conclusions of law made by other courts, presumably upon the basis of some factual showing in each case. But we disregard this deficiency in the presentation of evidence and consider the contentions presented to us."

I would appear from Justice Crockett's opinion that evidence would have to be produced to justify the exercise of

limitation which defendants seek to place upon Class A licenses.

We have reviewed 32-1-8 which delineates the subjects of regulation by the commission, and none of which seek to restrict licensing under the guise of regulation. Also a review of 10-8-43 through 10-8-46 with respect to power of cities to regulate certain businesses such as food markets, sale of food and plumbing functions indicates what the legislature had in mind in the use of the words "regulate" or "regulation".

POINT IV. BEER LICENSING IS ENTITLED TO THE SAME REASONABLE TREATMENT AS OTHER BUSINESSES.

In the case of Anderson v. Utah County Board of Commissioners, (1979) 589 P2d 1214, this court stated:

The same considerations of fundamental fairness and justice which prevent an administrative body from acting in a capricious or arbitrary manner in other areas of the law also apply in a beer license, even though it is a business which is subjected to a high degree of supervision and regulation in the interest of the public welfare.