1979

Triangle Oil, Inc. , A Corporation v. North Salt Lake Corporation, Municipal Corporation of the State of Utah; John R. Graves, William D. Jackson, Richard v. Strong, Joe W. Vande Merwe, and Rodney J. Wood, Councilmen : Brief of Defendants-Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT 1. NORTH SALT LAKE HAS THE AUTHORITY TO ENACT AN ORDINANCE RESTRICTING THE NUMBER OF BUSINESSES SELLING BEER AT RETAIL.

Municipalities exercise their legislative powers through ordinances. 2/

Utah law provides in part:

The governing body may pass any ordinance to regulate, require, prohibit, control or supervise any activity, business, conduct or condition authorized by this act or any other provision of law. 3/

Utah law also provides:

The powers herein delegated to any municipality shall be liberally construed to permit the municipality to exercise the powers granted by this act except in cases clearly contrary to the intent of the law. 4/

2/ Section 10-3-701, Utah Code Annotated, 1953 (Supp. 1977).

3/ Id. at section 10-3-702.

4/ Id. at section 10-1-103.

The foregoing provisions were enacted as one act in Laws of Utah 1977, Chapter 48.

Utah law also provides:

Cities and towns within their corporate limits...shall have the power to license, tax, regulate or prohibit the sale of light beer, at retail, in bottles or draft....5/

Plaintiff urges this Court to hold that the City has no power to restrict the sale of beer except at retail or draft (the phrase "other original containers" not appearing in the act) and that the City may not restrict the number of "class A" retail beer licenses for the reason that there is no specific enabling legislation.

Defendants submit that Plaintiff's objection to the phrase "other original containers" is a distinction without substance. Section 32-4-17 enables cities to "license, tax, regulate or prohibit the sale of light beer, at retail, in bottles or draft...."

Plaintiff urges this court to hold that the term "regulation" as used in section 32-4-17 means something other than the authority to limit the number of retail beer licenses. Presumably, that something other means hours of business or perhaps the location within the store or the city where beer may be sold. Yet Plaintiff's Complaint buttresses Defendants' position.

Prior to 1935, state law prescribed the number of retail beer licenses which could be issued according to population. The statute, cited by Plaintiff at page 4 of its Complaint, was repealed

5/ Id. at section 32-4-17.

in 1937 and the present enabling legislation was enacted. Essentially, the legislature determined that the sale of beer should be regulated at the local level.

It is well settled that municipalities may be invested with the power to limit the number of liquor licenses to be issued within their boundaries, and under such delegated authority may enact ordinances restricting or limiting the number of licenses that may be granted for the conduct of liquor business within the municipal limits. In fact, it has been said that the mere vesting of a municipality with the power to regulate the retail sale of intoxicating liquors vests the municipality with the power to fix by ordinance a reasonable limit on the number of retail liquor licenses to be issued. 6/

It seems that municipalities may be invested with the power to limit the number of liquor licenses to be issued within the boundaries, and that where this authority is delegated, either expressly or under a general charter power of regulation, ordinances in pursuance of such grant of authority will be upheld as valid. 7/

Generally, under power to regulate and license liquor vending places, a municipal corporation can limit the number of licenses

- 6/ 45 Am Jur 2d, Intoxicating Liquors, §135; Thielen v. Kosteletzky, 69 N.D. 410, 287 N.W. 513.
- 7/ 124 A.L.R. 820 (1939); People ex rel. Fitzgerald v. Harrison, 99 N.E. 903 (Ill. 1912); State ex rel. Howie v. Northfield, 101 N.W. 1063 (Minn. 1904); State ex rel. McIntire v. Libby, 82 P.2d 587 (Mont. 1938); In Re Jorgensen, 106 N.W. 462 (Neb. 1906); Bjordan v. Town Board of Town of Delvan, 230 Wisc. 543, 284 N.W. 534 (1939).

to be issued to vendors and vending establishments. 8/

The regulation or prohibition of intoxicating liquors or of their sale, traffic or possession is within or based on, or constitutes an exercise of the police power. The right to regulate the sale of intoxicating liquors by the legislative power given if within the police power of the state is practically limitless. 9/

In Shaw v. Orem City, 10/ the court cited Riggins v. District Court where the plaintiff had challenged an ordinance prohibiting the sale of beer on Sunday arguing that light beer was not an intoxicant. The Riggins court held:

The authority of the state to control and regulate the sale and use of light beer as defined in the act does not depend upon its being characterized by the act as intoxicating. The authority of the state under its police power to regulate the manufacture and use of light beer is to be determined by the nature of such beer rather than by the general characterization given to it by the lawmaking body. 11/

8/ 9 McQuillin, Municipal Corporations, §26.191; Gartland v. Talbott, 72 Idaho 125, 237 P.2d 1067 (1951); State v. City Council of Northfield, 94 Minn. 18, 101 N.W. 1063 (1904); State v. Womach 355 Mo. 486, 196 S.W. 2d 809 (1946); State v. City Council of City of Libby, 107 Mont. 216, 82 P.2d 587 (1938); Parks v. Allen, 426 F.2d 610 (5th Cir. 1970); De Caro v. Collierville 213 Tenn. 254, 373 S.W.2d 466 (1963); Winther v. Village of Weippe, 91 Idaho 798, 430 P.2d 689 (1967).

9/ Shaw v. Orem City, 117 Utah 288, 214 P.2d 888 (1950).

10/ Ibid.

11/ 89 Utah 183, 51 P.2d 645 (1935).

In Shaw v. Orem City the court held:

That the state may prohibit the sale of intoxicating liquors is too well settled to require citation of authority. It may delegate such powers to cities. State v. Briggs, 46 Utah 288, 146 P.261.

* * *

The power conferred is to "license, tax, regulate or prohibit" the sale of light beer at retail. It seems to us patent that since a city may prohibit, it may elect not to prohibit but to permit, under such conditions or restrictions as the descretion of its governing authority may dictate, subject, or course to conformity with state law. 12/

In Shaw, the Court quoted favorably from Gunnarssohn v. City of Sterling, 13/ as follows:

The language of the ordinance is not as broad and comprehensive as that of the city council to prohibit without any restriction whatever, while the latter only prohibits in less quantities than five gallons. A general power to prohibit is obviously sufficient to authorize any partial prohibition deemed advisable.

It appears from the language of Shaw that the Utah Courts construe the word "prohibit" to mean "regulate". Section 10-8-42 authorizes cities to prohibit the sale of beer. Following the rationale of Shaw cities could prohibit more than four retail outlets from selling beer within the city limits. As section 32-4-17 enables cities to regulate the retail sale of beer, it is unnecessary to argue that prohibit also includes the authority to limit. It is clear from the statutes and Utah

12/ Op cit. fn. 9.
13/ 92 Ill. 569 at 573.

case law that Utah municipalities are given broad latitude in regulating the retail sale of beer and that the enabling legislation is to be construed to accomplish the legislative purpose.

In Union Pacific Railroad Company v. The Mountain States Telephone and Telegraph Company 14/ the telephone company argued that Salt Lake City had no authority to grant the railroad the use of the city streets under a statute which provided that the City:

...may construct, maintain and operate waterworks, sewer collection, sewer treatment systems, gas works, electric light works, telephone lines or public transportation systems, or authorize the construction, maintenance and operation of the same by others.... (Emphasis the Courts). 15/

The Court held:

Consistent with the view taken by the authorities generally, this Court has approved a somewhat broad and realistic view of grants of authority to render a public service. In the case of Ogden City Ry. Co. v. Ogden City, et al., the plaintiff had been granted permission in 1883 to operate a street railway under a statute which authorized the city to exercise the power of eminent domain over streets in behalf of steam and horse railways. Seven years later, the city authorized another company to operate an electric street railroad over the same streets. The plaintiff there argued that the statute did not authorize the city to permit its streets to be used in

14/ P.2d (Utah April 12, 1979).

15/ Section 10-8-14, Utah Code Annotated 1953.

connection with electric railroads. The court observed that at the time of the enactment, electric railways were not mentioned because they were not in use, but that through ingenuity and invention they had come into use and were performing the same function as the horse railways had done. The court concluded that in carrying out the purpose of the law, the statute should be construed to include electric railways. The same principle of law was applied in the later case of Rich v. Salt Lake City Corp. The question arose as to whether the city could engage in bus transportation under a statute which permitted cities to "construct, maintain and operate . . . telephone lines or transportation systems, or authorize the construction, maintenance and operation of the same by others. . ." This Court rejected the argument of plaintiff that the language should be given a narrow and restrictive application. In accordance with what we think is the sound doctrine: that the law and its interpretation should keep abreast of changing conditions, it adopted the realistic view that inasmuch as motor buses had become the more practical means of street transportation, the authorization of the city to maintain and operate transportation systems was not limited to the former "street railway," but should reasonably be deemed to include transportation by buses. 16/

Defendants submit that the clear legislative intent is directed toward the regulation of the sale of beer, not whether the beer is sold in bottles, cans or at draft. It is illogical to maintain that cities may regulate the sale of beer sold in bottles or at draft, but not in cans or plastic baggies.

16/ In the Union Pacific case, supra, the court added a footnote: 20 Utah 2d 339, 437 P.2d 680 (1968); cf also Spangler v. Corless, 61 Utah 88, 211 P.692 where this court held that under the exemption statute, sec. 6925(6) C.L.U. 1917 of ". . .one horse, with vehicle and harness, . . . used by a physician . . ." was held to exempt an automobile; and the fact that the motive power is gasoline instead of a horse was not of material significance.

POINT II. THE CITY NEED NOT PRESENT PROOF
OF THE EVILS ASSOCIATED WITH THE
SALE OF BEER IN ORDER TO RESTRICT
THE NUMBER OF RETAIL OUTLETS.

Defendants submit that the City need only demonstrate enabling legislation to establish the legality of its ordinances. It need not present any factual basis showing the need for the ordinance, the enactment of ordinances being a legislative function of elected municipal officials.

However, in this case, it is submitted that the Court may take judicial notice that the sale and consumption of an alcoholic beverage is somewhat of more concern to the public safety, health and welfare than hours a barber keeps in his place of business.

The Eighteenth Amendment to the Constitution prohibited the sale of liquor, except for medical uses. In repealing the Eighteenth Amendment, the Twenty-first Amendment conferred something more than normal state authority over the public health, welfare, and morals. 17/

In Stanton v. Superior Court in and for Graham County, 18/ the court held that the police power of the state is fully competent to regulate the liquor business and to mitigate its evils or suppress it entirely. The court also held that a citizen has no inherent right to sell intoxicating liquors, and since the liquor business is attended with danger to the community, it may be entirely prohibited or it may be permitted under such conditions as will limit to the utmost its evils.

17/ Arizona State Liquor Board v. Poulos, 112 Ariz. 119,
538 P.2d 393 (1975).

18/ 55 Ariz. 114, 103 P.2d 952 (1940).
Digitized by the J. Willard Lee Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.

In Garcia v. Arizona State Liquor Board, 19/ the court held that states have power to regulate in the field of intoxicating liquors in a manner which would be precluded by other provisions of the Constitution if other commodities or activities were involved.

In Sail'er Inn, Inc. v. Kirley, 20/ the court held that the state had particularly broad powers with respect to the manufacture of and traffic in alcoholic beverages because of the damages to the public health and safety inherent in the sale and use of alcohol.

Defendants submit that the overwhelming, if not unanimous, opinions of the courts, which have considered the matter, hold that the sale of liquor may be controlled, regulated or prohibited as an exercise of the police powers and that such regulations made take a form different than that which would be permitted for other businesses. 21/

- 19/ 21 Ariz. App. 456, 520 P.2d 852 (1974).
20/ 95 Cal. Rptr. 329, 485 P.2d 529 (1971).
21/ See Wilke & Holzheiser, Inc. v. Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control, 420 P.2d 735, 55 Cal. Reptr. 23 (1966); Sibert v. Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control, 337 P.2d 882, 169 C.A. 2d 563 (1959); Farah v. Alcoholic Beverage Control Appeals Bd., 324 P.2d 98, 159 C.A. 2d 335 (1958); State v. Meyers, 376 P.2d 710, 85 Idaho 129 (1962); Tri-State Hotel Co. v. Londerholm, 408 P.2d 877, 195 Kan. 748 (1965); Drink, Inc. v. Babcock, 421 P.2d 798, 77 N.M. 277 (1966); Yarbrough v. Montoya, 214 P.2d 769, 54 N.M. 91 (1950); Alamogordo Imp. Co. v. Prendergast, 109 P.2d 254, 45 N.M. 40 (1941); State ex rel. Hart v. Parham, 412 P.2d 142 Okla. 1966; Marcus v. State ex rel. Alcoholic Beverage Control Bd., 411 P.2d 539 (Okla. 1966); Houser v. State, 540 P.2d 412, 85 Wash. 2d 803 (1975).

Additionally, in Utah, the sale of liquor containing more than three and two-tenths alcohol by volume is a state regulated monopoly. 22/

It is submitted that the Court may properly take notice of the problems related to the sale and consumption of alcoholic beverages. An ordinance regulating the sale of beer would be valid and the City need not present evidence of the particular problems related to the sale and consumption of beer. An ordinance enacted under specific and valid authority from the legislature should be sustained regardless of the court's opinion of the reasonableness of the ordinance. 23/

POINT III. THE NORTH SALT LAKE BEER ORDINANCE
DOES NOT DENY PLAINTIFF EQUAL PROTECTION

Plaintiff suggests that the City's classification of beer licenses into classes A, B, and C raises equal protection issues. Defendants submit that the classifications are for revenue purposes only. The applicant may have any classification he or she desires, if there are licenses available. Plaintiff appears to suggest that if the City issues a class A license, it must also issue a class B and a C license, or, that it must issue at least two licenses for each classification in order to avoid the

22/ Sections 32-1-1 et seq., Utah Code Annotated 1953.
23/ Huston v. Des Moines, 176 Iowa 455, 156 N.W. 883 (1916);
State v. Chicago, M & St. P. R. Co., 114 Minn. 122, 130
N.W. 545 (1911); Lake View v. Tate, 130 Ill. 247, 22 N.E.
791 (1889); Roswell v. Bateman, 20 N.M. 77, 146 P. 954
(1915); 56 Am Jur 2d, Municipal Corporations, section 362.

chance of creating a monopoly. Such an argument, if successful, would destroy the power to restrict the number of retail beer outlets.

Finally, Plaintiff urges this Court to require a system of rotating beer licenses. That position was not raised below and should not be raised here. However, the case of Anderson v. Utah County Board of Commissioners, 24/ correctly observes that a person having a license and in operation "should have some preference over any new application...."

Defendants submit that the preference over a new applicant may have been grounded on the distinction recognized by the courts between an application for a renewal and a new application.

Ordinarily, a person who makes an application for a liquor license does not have a vested right to engage in the liquor business. 25/ The denial of a license by a proper authority with discretion in the matter generally does not deprive an applicant of either liberty or property. 26/ By contrast, the application for a renewal of a liquor license was considered subject to procedural due process. In Manos v. City of Green Bay, 27/ the court found that the applicant had a "property" interest in the renewal of his liquor license in that he had investment which the applicant had in physical improvements to his business and his expectation that he would be in business for over one year were sufficient to warrant the guarantee of minimal due process. In reaching this

24/ 589 P.2d 1214 (Utah 1979).

25/ Bjordal v. Town Board of Town of Delvan, *supra*, n. 7.

26/ 9 McQuillin, Municipal Corporations (3rd Ed.) pp. 508-510, Section 26.195.

27/ 372 P. Supp. 40 (1974).

decision the court held:

The plaintiff in this case has a substantial property interest in retention of his liquor license, since, if the revocation is allowed, he will not only lose his sole source of income, but will also lose a substantial sum of money which he has invested in physical improvements to his business establishment. 28/

Plaintiff's suggestion that some system of rotation be required by this Court is illogical and would impose burdens on existing licensees which very well may be prohibited by the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution. 29/

CONCLUSION

1. The City of North Salt Lake has statutory enabling authority to restrict the number of retail beer outlets to four.
2. The City may properly refuse to issue a new license to sell beer where the number of existing retail beer outlets exceeds four.
3. The City classification for the sale of beer is not arbitrary, unreasonable or capricious or a denial of equal protection.
4. No evidence beyond that contained in the record is required in order to show that the City's beer licensing ordinance is lawful.

28/ Id. at 372 F. Supp. 47.

29/ See City of Kenosha v. Bruno, 412 U.S. 532 (1973).